#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No.SC01-1914

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN
Assistant Public Defender
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

#### ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ray Johnston was tried on October 3-6, 2000 for first-degree murder of Janice Nugent, which was alleged to have occurred on February 6 or 7, 1997 (1/19). At trial, the state introduced over objection evidence pertaining to the August 19, 1997 murder of Leanne Coryell (see 1/25-29). The jury in the Nugent case returned a verdict of guilty as charged (3/435; 12/1238). The penalty phase resulted in a 7-5 death recommendation, but the trial court granted a post-verdict motion for mistrial (3/475,510-14; 14/1507; 15/1522-24). A new jury was impaneled for a second penalty phase, which was held on April 10-12, 2001. An 11-1 death recommendation was returned, and on August 22, 2001, the trial judge imposed a death sentence (4/581,673-81; 21/2468-69; 23/2590-2602):1

The following is a summary of the evidence presented at trial:

Janice Nugent was a 47 year old divorced woman who lived alone
in a house at 315 West Chelsea Street in Tampa, and was employed as a
bookkeeper (7/423,429-30,440-41,443). The state called a co-worker
of hers, Petra Disher, to identify a photograph of Ms. Nugent (7/42326). On the morning of Thursday, February 6, 1997, between 8:30 and
9:30 a.m., Janice called in sick; she told Disher she was not feeling
well due to a very bad menstrual period (7/426-27).

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  The judge found HAC (great weight) and prior violent felony convictions (great weight) as aggravating factors. As mitigating circumstances he found impaired capacity (based on frontal lobe brain damage) (moderate weight) and several nonstatutory factors (each accorded slight weight) (4/673-81).

Janice Nugent had a daughter, Kelli McCarthy, who was 27 or 28 years old in 1997 and was married to John McCarthy (7/428-29,440-41). According to Kelli, her mother had a phone answering machine which she kept on her bureau on the right hand side of her bed (7/441-42). She always used it to screen her calls, and it was her habit to have a tape in it at all times. After a tape ran out, she would replace it and put the used tape in a bureau drawer to save the messages (7/441-44). On Wednesday, February 5, 1997, in the afternoon, Kelli phoned her mother at home (although she knew she was at work) to leave a message to call her back (7/442,451-52). Janice did call her back, and told her she was going out that evening (7/452). [Kelli knew that Janice was dating a man named Harry who drove a white sports car; she later told that to the police (7/452-53)].

Over the next couple of days, Kelli was unable to reach her mother by phone, and finally she asked her husband John to go check on her (7/431-32). Around 11:00 p.m. on Friday, February 7, John went to Janice's house. When he pulled into the driveway, he noticed that the side door was slightly ajar and the keys were hanging in the inside lock, which caused him to think there was something wrong (7/430-33,438-39). Janice's car was in the carport (7/432-33,437-38). As John went inside the house, he called his wife on his cell phone. He was calling out Janice's name and getting no response (7/433). He went through the living room, noticing that the dimmer switches were on and were all turned down very low (7/433,435). As he proceeded down the hallway toward Janice's bedroom he looked into the bathroom and saw that the bathtub was full of water and the

curtain was pulled partially shut (7/433). When he looked closer, he saw a bed comforter in the bathtub and Janice's hair sticking out from it (7/433-34). He immediately told his wife on the phone to call 911. John looked around quickly to make sure no one was still in the house, then went to a neighbor's house where he too called 911 (7/433-34).

John was inside the house for less than two minutes. The phone rang while he was there but he didn't answer it. He was never in the master bedroom or the kitchen (7/434-35).

Associate medical examiner Dr. Julia Martin arrived at the Nugent residence at 1:25 a.m. on February 8th (8/590). Janice Nugent's body was submerged in water in the bathtub; she was wearing panties and a brassiere and was covered by a comforter or blanket (8/591-92,641). Dr. Martin observed an earring in her right ear, but no earring in the left ear (8/592). Based on her observation, Dr. Martin believed Ms. Nugent had been dead for 24-48 hours; the window period would have been from approximately 1:00 a.m. the preceding Thursday (February 6) to 1:00 a.m. the preceding Friday (February 7), but these times were not exact and the range could have been a little bit longer or shorter than that (8/594, 640-41). Dr. Martin was able to say with reasonable medical certainty that she was dead before the clock turned to midnight on Saturday, February 8th (8/594). Because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Since Petra Disher spoke with Janice Nugent between 8:30 and 9:30 a.m. on Thursday, February 6 and John McCarthy found her body around 11:00 p.m. on Friday, February 7, Dr. Martin's testimony in light of this other evidence establishes a maximum "window period" of approximately 38 hours.

there was no sign of drowning, apart from some heaviness of the lungs which could have resulted from other causes, Dr. Martin was of the opinion that Ms. Nugent was already dead when she was submerged in the water (8/594-95).

Dr. Martin later conducted an autopsy, and concluded that Ms. Nugent's death was a homicide and the cause of death was manual strangulation (8/596-98,631). Dr. Martin found extensive bruising, which she described as "fingertip type contusions" to the neck and shoulder area (8/626-29). The hyoid bone and voice box were not fractured (8/630,646). Dr. Martin did not see any petechial hemorrhages in or around the eyes (8/630-31,646). [Petechiae, she explained, are sometimes seen in cases of strangulation where continuous pressure was applied, blocking the veins in the head so the blood can't come down, causing small blood vessels to break and producing little red dots in and around the eyes (8/630)]. The multiple deep bruising and fingertip contusions to the neck, combined with the absence of petechial hemorrhages led Dr. Martin to believe that this was not a constant, continuous compression, but rather it "was more of a manual throttling. . . meaning, it was more pressure, release, pressure, release. There was some fighting activity" (8/631,646). Dr. Martin believed that during at least a portion of these events Ms. Nugent's assailant was behind her (8/632-34). Dr. Martin also observed a faint furrow line which "may represent some type of ligature" or an abrasion from a piece of clothing such as a shirt collar (8/629-30,641-42). There were about five bruises to Ms. Nugent's face which Dr. Martin described as blunt impact injuries

consistent with blows from a fist, and some defensive-type fingernail abrasions over her nose and defensive injuries on the back of both hands and her right forearm (8/622-26,628,634-35). It was Dr. Martin's opinion that Ms. Nugent would have been conscious during "a good portion" of these events (8/632).

Dr. Martin also observed at least three to five blunt impact "pattern type injuries" to Ms. Nugent's buttocks and hips (8/635-37). One or two of these injuries, in Dr. Martin's opinion, were more probably than not inflicted by a belt (8/637,651), while the other injuries could have been caused by a belt or by some other implement, including (as to the injury to the left upper buttock) a vacuum cleaner hose (8/637-38,650-51). Dr. Martin described the injuries which she thought were from a belt as two parallel lines with a pattern in between; "[t]hat again is coming from a belt, especially if it is looped, and that's what we commonly see" (8/638-39,651). No specific belt was ever presented to Dr. Martin to compare with the injuries to Ms. Nugent's buttocks (8/651).

Dr. Martin testified that the various injuries to Ms. Nugent's face, upper torso, hips, and buttocks might have produced some internal bleeding, but she would not expect to see much bloodletting to the surrounding area where the injuries were sustained (8/639-40).

Testing of the ocular fluid indicated that Ms. Nugent had a blood alcohol level of .06, which would be consistent with her drinking a glass or more of wine prior to her death, or could also be a result of postmortem chemical changes (8/649). A "sexual assault

kit" was obtained during the autopsy and given to law enforcement for testing; she did not know the results (8/649). However, Dr. Martin saw no evidence of any tears, lacerations, or any other trauma to the vaginal or rectal areas (8/649-50). Dr. Martin testified that a forensic pathologist can determine with reasonable certainty whether a woman was having her menstrual period at the time of her death, and in Dr. Martin's opinion Ms. Nugent was not menstruating (8/652-53).

A few days after the body was discovered, Janice Nugent's daughter Kelli, accompanied by a detective, went through the house to determine if anything was missing. She was unable to find the answering machine tapes which Janice habitually stored in the top drawer of her bureau (7/443-44). Also, Janice had in her living room a portable phone in a cradle. The phone portion had caller ID, which stored numbers, attached. When Kelli went through the house, she observed that while the cradle was still there, the phone was missing (7/444-46).

Kelli testified that her mother owned a massage table which she stored in a corner. Janice would bring it out into the living room when she was giving somebody a massage (which she did frequently for people she knew), and she would also bring it with her when she traveled (7/449-51). Whenever she finished using it she would put it away (7/451). Several photographs of Janice's living room taken by crime scene investigators showed the purple massage table with a pillow on it open in the living room (7/449-51, see 466-67; State Exhibits 9,10,13,14).

Kelli described her mother as a "creature of habit" and a "neat freak" (7/443,447). Nothing was ever out of place. She would mop her kitchen floor every week, and it would be very uncharacteristic of her to leave a cup unwashed for three or four weeks (7/447). There was only one bathtub in the house, and Janice habitually bathed twice a day (7/446-47).

Ron Pliego is a day trader and consultant in his mid-fifties 8/561). He had met Janice Nugent at Malio's -- a nightclub/restaurant on South Dale Mabry which both of them frequented -- and had known her for almost a year (8/562,568-69). On Wednesday evening February 5, 1997, Pliego went to Malio's to meet a friend of his, and he saw Janice there. After staying at Malio's for a while, Pliego decided to go to a late night jazz club called the Fox; he told Janice he was heading there. Pliego drove by himself in his own sports car, and a little while after he arrived at the Fox, Janice showed up there. They socialized and Janice invited Pliego to come back to her house (8/562-64,569).

They drove in separate cars to Janice's house around midnight (8/564,570). Pliego stayed for an hour or so, remaining in the living room the whole time, except possibly to use the bathroom (8/564-66,570,573). He did not eat or drink anything while he was there (8/566,571). Pliego and Janice had some form of sexual intercourse on the living room couch, but he testified that he could not remember whether it was vaginal or oral (8/565,571-72). Janice did not give him a massage that night (8/571). Pliego was aware of seeing a massage table in the living room, but he was not certain

whether he saw it for the first time that night or on the previous occasion he was at Janice's house, when they also had sex (8/565,569,571). He left around 1:00 a.m. and drove straight home (8/565,570).

The following Saturday, when he was getting ready to leave for North Florida for the weekend, a friend called Pliego and told him that a girl named Janice, who was in her thirties, had been killed. Pliego said it couldn't be the Janice he knew "because I knew she was a little older", and he and his friend discussed their ages (8/566-67). When Pliego got back, he learned that it was in fact the Janice he knew, and since he'd heard that people had seen him with her at Malio's he called Detective Stanton (8/567). He provided his fingerprints and a blood sample for their investigation (8/567-68, see 10/744-45).

Frances Aberle is a contract specialist at McDill Air Force
Base. She was introduced to Ray Johnston (appellant) by a friend
named Scott Bowles on Wednesday, January 15, 1997 (9/720-22,728).
She was certain of the date because she had recorded it in her
appointment book (9/722). Frances was also acquainted with Janice
Nugent from Malio's (9/723). However, Janice was someone whom
Frances did not care to be friends with (9/728).

On January 15, Frances was sitting between Ray and Scott at the bar, and Janice Nugent was seated beside Scott on his right (9/723-24). Ray was telling Frances and Scott that he was fairly new in town and that he'd been to Malio's a few times before. He told them he had taken Janice Nugent out on a date one time; they had gone to a

Chinese restaurant (9/724). [Frances did not know the specific date but it would have been sometime after January 3d and before January 15th (9/724-25)]. Ray told Frances and Scott that they had returned from the Chinese restaurant to Janice's house, when Janice started talking about having a ghost in her back bedroom. Ray said that Janice also showed him a videotape in which she was narrating her beliefs about the ghost being in the house and certain unusual religious beliefs that she had (9/725,730). It was really weird and uncomfortable, and he left without his jacket (9/725).

Despite this abrupt end to the evening, Ray told Frances and Scott that Janice was calling him to go out again, but he didn't want anything further to do with her (9/725,730). Janice had asked him what she should do with the jacket, and Ray said to bring it to him at Malio's sometime (9/725).

Frances testified that while they were all at the bar at Malio's on January 15, Janice left, came back, and put a jacket on the back of Ray's chair without saying a word to anyone; she then walked back and sat in her seat (9/726).

After that night, Frances began dating Ray, but when he would ask her to go to Malio's with him she would refuse, because she knew that Janice frequents there "and I just didn't care to be in that environment or that situation" (9/726,728,731). Based on the things she knew or had heard about that Janice had done previously, Frances was afraid she would retaliate against her for seeing Ray. For example, Janice had "keyed" Harry Norris' car, and if she met a man who was married she would call that person's wife (9/726,728-29).

Frances learned of Janice's death when Ray called her and told her after he'd read about it in the newspaper. He said it was terrible, and she, despite her feelings about Janice, agreed and expressed shock (9/726-27,729-31). In a later conversation, Frances said to Ray, "I just can't understand someone doing that. Why? No matter what somebody did, why somebody would do that." Ray was agreeing with her, and then he turned and said, "Well, now there's no reason you can't go to Malio's with me" (9/727.731).

Detective Robert Holland of the Tampa Police Department arrived at Janice Nugent's home on February 7, 1997 at around 11:45 p.m. to examine and document the crime scene (7/454-55,460-62,497). When he first observed Ms. Nugent's body submerged in the bathtub, a steady trickle of water was running from the spigot into the tub. A washcloth was hanging from the spigot. The comforter was removed from the body after the medical examiner arrived (7/478-80).

Numerous photographs were introduced depicting the rooms and locations in the house as they existed during the investigation on February 7th and 8th (7/460, see 7/515). There were no indications of forcible entry (7/507), and no signs of a struggle or disturbance in the living room, Florida room, storage room, guest bedroom, or the office area of the master bedroom (7/462,466,474-75, 483,503). No items were broken and overturned in the bathroom where Ms. Nugent's body was found (7/476-77). The only sign of a struggle which Detective Holland observed was in the master bedroom where a lamp on a bedside table had been broken and partially overturned (7/484,503,508; State Exhibits 31,32). A closeup photograph shows a

small lamp base; the center portion is broken, the top portion is tipped, and the light bulb is still in it, intact. Right next to it is a ceramic bowl, upright and unbroken. Inches from the lamp base, lying on its side on the table, is a pill bottle labeled antioxidant Coenzyme (State Exhibit 32, see also State Exhibit 31).

In the living room, there was a coffee table in front of a gray couch. There was a purple stain on the glass top of the table which appeared to Detective Holland to be a liquid stain, consistent with spilled wine (7/464-65,471,501). There was a similar colored stain on a pair of white denim shorts which were underneath or near the coffee table (7/465-66,471). There was a massage table, open in the living room, with jars of cocoa butter and massage oil on a nearby piece of furniture (7/467,504,512-13, see 10/842; State Exhibits 9,10,13,14). There was a phone base without the phone in it on a living room table (7/467-69,504). Detective Holland did not know whether the phone base was dusted for fingerprints (7/504).

On the drain board in the kitchen Detective Holland saw two wine glasses, turned upside down as if they'd been washed, and another similar purple stain. There were other wine glasses, along with vases and other objects, on a stand, and a bottle of wine in the cupboard (7/469-71,502). Underneath the kitchen table, next to one of the table legs, was a plastic tumbler lying on its side. It was dry; Detective Holland did not observe any liquid either in the tumbler or in its immediate area (7/472,506; State Exhibit 19).

The bed in the master bedroom was unmade (7/505). A portion of a post-type earring and a button were on the bed (7/485-87). The

earring matched the one which was in Ms. Nugent's right ear (see 8/592). No item of clothing was found which corresponded to the button (7/487). There were several areas of staining on the bedsheet which could either be blood or some type of body fluid (7/487,501). A bra and panties were on the bedroom floor, as was a single key (7/487-88). The key was never determined to fit or match any particular lock (7/487). The phone and answering machine on the bedroom dresser was unplugged, and the answering machine did not contain a cassette tape. The portion of the answering machine which holds a tape was in an upright and raised position (7/482-83). Detective Holland was unaware at the time that Ms. Nugent stored her answering machine tapes in a drawer/credenza, so he didn't know whether that particular area was dusted for fingerprints (7/506).

The only VCR which Detective Holland saw in the house was in the master bedroom (7/504-05; State Exh 36). [State Exhibit 36 shows a television and VCR on top of a chest of drawers in the bedroom. The VCR is inside a small VCR shelf compartment on top of the chest; the TV sits on the top of the shelf. There are two videotapes on top of the VCR, underneath the TV. State Exhibit 10 shows another TV, without a VCR, in the living room beside a stereo].

Detective Holland observed what appeared to be blood on the rim of the bathtub, and also a "minute particle" of what appeared to be blood on a pane of glass on the Florida room door (7/500-03,512).

[Another apparent blood spot, on a chrome and glass table in the guest bedroom, was brought to the attention of Detective Richard Stanton by members of Ms. Nugent's family seven months later.

Samples of that potential blood were taken from the table and submitted to the FDLE lab (10/746)].

Crime scene technician Webster Green collected evidence from the Nugent residence in the early morning of February 8, 1997, including the top and bottom bedsheets, the earring, the white denim shorts, a Phone Mate answering machine, and a Bell phone/ clock (7/515-24). Three days later he recovered a remote control from a TV/VCR on the bed in the master bedroom which he had overlooked earlier (7/524-26). The television and VCR were located along the north wall of the bedroom (7/525). Six latent prints were lifted from the remote, eight from the answering machine, and six from the clock radio (7/525-26). Green did not know whether they were of any value for comparison (7/526).

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