IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC01-1914

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

-----/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

RICHARD E. DORAN
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0986682
2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 801-0600
(813) 356-1292 Facsimile

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TABLE OF CONTENT

	PAGE NOS.
TABLE OF CONTENT	i

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

Dwight was very mean and that he wished he could cut Dwight out of himself. (X/824). In context with the statements made by Defendant in the trial for the murder of Leanne Coryell, the statements regarding "Dwight" were relevant and material admissions of a party-opponent because they were inconsistent with Defendant's denial of responsibility for Ms. Nugent's murder.

Defendant took the stand in the trial for the murder of Ms. Coryell and denied that a person named "Dwight" lived inside him. Defendant specifically explained that he created the concept of "Dwight" to avoid taking responsibility for his actions. (C18/1742).²³ Similarly, in the instant case, when the

²While Defendant complains on appeal that his trial testimony from the Leanne Coryell case was misused and/or was presented incompletely, at trial, defense counsel made no objection to the manner in which the testimony was edited and presented to the jury. In fact, defense counsel thanked the State on the record for redacting the testimony on its own to limit it to the issues before the court. (XI/995). The only objection raised concerned the trial court's decision to allow Williams' rule evidence to be presented at all. As such, this issue has not been preserved for appeal.

³Additionally, Defendant urges error resulting from the omission of the fact that his testimony from the Coryell murder trial blaming "Dwight" for that murder took place in a discussion with defense expert Dr. Maher about the Coryell murder only. According to Defendant, the reference to "Dwight" in the Coryell murder penalty phase which was read into the record in the guilt phase of this trial was confusing without the additional reference to Dr. Maher to distinguish it from the "Dwight" comment made to Detective Noblitt in the Nugent murder investigation. However, the record shows that the cross-

detectives interviewed the Defendant about Ms. Nugent's murder, Defendant volunteered the information about Dwight. Thus, under these particular circumstances, the statements about Dwight became an admission because Defendant was, once again, using the concept of Dwight to avoid responsibility for murder.

Given Defendant's testimony about inventing Dwight to avoid responsibility for his actions, his admission in the instant case was relevant to the material issue of whether he committed the murder of Janice Nugent. As such, the trial court properly determined that the comments were admissible and were not *unfairly* prejudicial to the Defendant. See Swafford, 533 So. 2d 270, 275 (emphasis supplied). Thus, no abuse of discretion

examination of Defendant was solely related to the murder of Coryell. (XI/1011-1016). Additionally, during the penalty phase, the State's cross-examination of Dr. Maher pointed out that the discussion about "Dwight" pertained to Ms. Coryell's homicide. (XX/2327-2328). Thus, no confusion occurred.

Moreover, had any confusion arisen concerning which murder was being discussed, defense counsel was free to address this matter in his closing argument. The absence of such an explanation by defense counsel in closing or any objection to the testimony as presented confirms that no undue confusion resulted from the testimony as it was presented to the Nugent jury.

This conclusion is also bolstered by the discussion Defendant had with Detective Noblitt about the Nugent murder. After Defendant's mention of Dwight, Detective Noblitt immediately asked Defendant if Dwight killed Ms. Nugent, and Defendant denied that assertion. (X/824-825). Thus, the distinction between the two murders in reference to "Dwight" was apparent to the jury. Further, Defendant's claim of error on this point was not preserved, and is not cognizable on appeal.

occurred in the admission of this testimony. See Carpenter v. State, 785 So. 2d 1182, 1201 (Fla. 2001)(trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion).

Alternatively, should this Court determine that the admission of this hearsay testimony was improper, any error was harmless in the face of the overwhelming evidence of Defendant's guilt. Defendant's fingerprint was found on the bathtub knob where the victim's body was found and on a plastic tumbler found under a table in the victim's kitchen, (IX/686-688), his DNA was found mixed with that of the victim's on her bedsheets, (X/879-881), and a partial shoeprint found in the victim's kitchen was consistent with a pair of tennis shoes belonging to the Defendant. (X/756). Additionally, Defendant's statements to the police fail to explain why this physical evidence was present where it was found. While Defendant admitted to being in the victim's home several weeks before the murder, his statements regarding the details of that visit were contradicted by the physical evidence found at the scene of the crime.

In his first statement to police, Defendant denied ever going in the victim's bathroom. Only when confronted with the information that they found his print near the body did he first admit to using the bathroom. (X/818). When that did not

satisfy the detectives, Defendant came up with a story that he was burned by hot oil and took a shower weeks before the murder occurred. (X/819). The veracity of this story was fully refuted by the testimony of the victim's daughter that the victim bathed twice a day, that she had only one bathroom in her house, and that she was a meticulous housekeeper. (VII/446-447). Thus, Defendant's fingerprint could not have survived two or more weeks on the bathtub knob or on the plastic tumbler found under the kitchen table. More importantly, Defendant never admitted to being in the victim's bedroom and provided no explanation, plausible or otherwise, for how his DNA ended up on the victim's bedsheets.

In addition to the physical evidence implicating Defendant in the murder of Ms. Nugent, Williams rule evidence was also presented. The circumstances of Defendant's confessed murder of Leanne Coryell were so substantially similar to the instant offense that the evidence from that crime demonstrated motive, intent and identity with regard to Ms. Nugent's murder. In both murders, the Defendant selected attractive blonde women as victims, he strangled both women from behind, he also inflicted blunt trauma wounds to their heads and upper bodies, he severely beat each victim on the buttocks with a belt, and left both deceased victims submerged in water. (See Issue II below

for a further discussion of the Williams rule evidence).

Consequently, in view of the overwhelming evidence of Defendant's guilt, any error resulting from the admission of his statements concerning "Dwight" must be deemed harmless.⁴ See Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 2000); and LeCroy v. State, 533 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 1988). Compare Martinez v. State, 761 So. 2d 1074, 1080-1081 (Fla. 2000)(improper admission of officer's opinion testimony as to defendant's guilt reversible error where no physical evidence linked defendant to crime); Hill v. State, 768 So. 2d 518, 520 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)(admission of inculpatory letter from defendant to judge not harmless where only evidence identifying defendant came from investigating officer, no fingerprints or other evidence linked defendant to cocaine).

Defendant's arguments to the contrary, nothing stated in the State's closing argument rendered the admission of Defendant's

⁴Defendant's arguments to the contrary, nothing stated in the State's closing argument rendered the admission of Defendant's hearsay statements harmful. This is especially true where no objection was made to anything the prosecutor said in closing. See Gonzalez v. State, 786 So. 2d 559, 567-568 (Fla. 2001)(propriety of prosecutorial comment not raised in trial court; therefore, not preserved for appellate review). And, the State's closing remarks were a fair comment on the evidence presented. See Pagan v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S299 (Fla. 2002). See also Reyes v. State, 700 So. 2d 458, 460-461 (Fla. 1997)(arguing a conclusion that can be drawn from evidence is permissible fair comment in closing).

hearsay statements harmful. This is especially true where no objection was made to anything the prosecutor said in closing. See Gonzalez v. State, 786 So. 2d 559, 567-568 (Fla. 2001)(propriety of prosecutorial comment not raised in trial court; therefore, not preserved for appellate review). And, the State's closing remarks were a fair comment on the evidence presented. See Pagan v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S299 (Fla. 2002). See also Reyes v. State, 700 So. 2d 458, 460-461 (Fla. 1997)(arguing a conclusion that can be drawn from evidence is permissible fair comment in closing). Defendant is not entitled to a new trial as a result of this issue.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Next, Defendant contends that reversible error resulted from the admission of the Williams Rule evidence concerning his confessed murder of Leanne Coryell. Based upon the substantial similarities between the murder of Ms. Coryell and the murder of Janice Nugent in the instant case, no abuse of discretion occurred with respect to the admission of the Williams Rule evidence. See Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 195 (Fla. 1997).

Under the Williams rule, similar fact evidence is admissible if the evidence is "relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." See Crump v. State, 622 So. 2d 963, 967 (Fla. 1993), citing Section 90.404(2)(a), Fla.Stat. (1989); and Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654, 662 (Fla.), cert. denied, 361 U.S. 847, 80 S.Ct. 102, 4 L.Ed.2d 86 (1959). Here, the similar fact evidence of Defendant's confessed murder of Ms. Coryell was relevant to prove each of the material facts contemplated above.

The important similarities found by the trial court included the following: 1) both bodies were found submerged in shallow

water after death; 2) both victims were single, white females with blonde hair and medium build; 3) the location of the residences of both victims were known to Defendant; 3) Defendant knew both victims prior to the murders; 5) both victims were strangled to death in a violent manner; and 6) both victims suffered patterned bruises to the buttocks consistent with the use of a belt. (III/409-414). More importantly, a review of both records reveals additional and notable similarities between the two murders.

For example, both victims suffered blunt impact trauma to their faces and upper body consistent with being punched. (C10/623-624, 636-639). The patterned bruising to the buttocks on both victims was not only consistent with the use of a belt, but showed evidence that the belt was held in a looped position when the blows were struck. (C10/638-639, 650-651). Also, portions of the bruising on both victims indicated that another object could have been used in addition to a belt. (C10/650, 670-671, 688-689). Both victims were already dead when they were submerged in water. (C10/595, 631). Finally, both victims were strangled from behind. (C10/632-633, 636). Under these circumstances, the trial court properly admitted the Williams rule evidence.

The decision of this Court in Crump, 622 So. 2d 963,

supports the ruling of the trial court below. In a strikingly similar factual scenario, evidence of another murder committed by Crump was properly introduced in the trial for Crump's murder of Lavinia Clark. See Crump, 622 So. 2d 963, 966.

On December 12, 1985, Crump's first victim, Lavinia Clark, was found dead. Ten months later, on October 9, 1985, a second victim, Areba Smith, was also found dead. An eyewitness lead police to Crump as a suspect in the murder of Smith. Crump eventually confessed to the murder of Smith, but consistently denied killing Clark. See Clark, 622 So. 2d at 967-968.

At the trial for the murder of Clark, the State introduced Williams rule evidence of Crump's murder of Smith to establish his identity as Clark's killer. See Clark, at 967. On appeal, this Court ruled the Williams rule evidence was properly admitted. See id. at 968.

As Defendant does in the instant case, Crump argued that the similarities between Smith's murder and Clark's murder were not sufficiently unusual to serve as evidence of identity. Id. at 967-968. For support, Crump cited Drake v. State, 400 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Fla. 1981), in which this Court found that the similar features of crimes, such as binding both victim's hands and meeting the victim at a bar, were not sufficiently unusual to point to defendant in that case, and therefore irrelevant to

prove identity. Id. at 968. Defendant also attempts to rely on the Drake decision.

However, as found in Crump, this argument is without merit. This Court has upheld the use of collateral crime evidence when the common features considered in conjunction with each other establish a sufficiently unusual pattern of criminal activity. See id. 968, citing Chandler v. State, 442 So. 2d 171, 173 (Fla. 1983). Although the common features between the two murders committed by Crump may not be unusual when considered individually, this Court found that taken together these features established a sufficiently unusual pattern of criminal activity. See id.

The common features of the two crimes included: both victims were African-American women with a similar physical build and age...; Crump admitted to giving a ride to each victim in his truck in the same area, off Columbus Boulevard in Tampa; Crump admitted to the police that he argued with each victim while giving the victims a ride in his truck; both victims' bodies showed evidence of ligature marks on the wrists; both victims died from manual strangulation; both victims' bodies were found nude and uncovered in an area adjacent to cemeteries within the distance of a mile from each other; and the victims were murdered at different sites from where the bodies were discovered.

See id. The cumulative effect of the numerous similarities between the two crimes established an unusual modus operandi which identified Crump as Clark's murderer, and justified the admission of the Williams rule evidence. See Crump, 968.

Similarly, in the instant case, the cumulative effect of similarities concerning the manner of strangulation, the patterned injuries to the victims, and the manner of disposing of the bodies established an unusual modus operandi identifying Defendant as Nugent's murderer.⁵ Consequently, the trial court properly admitted the Williams rule evidence of Coryell's murder.

In the alternative, should this Court determine that error resulted from the admission of the Williams rule evidence, any such error should be deemed harmless. See Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 487 (Fla. 1998)(erroneous introduction of Williams rule evidence harmless where "no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986)). The physical evidence found at the murder scene, in conjunction with Defendant's statements to police contradicting that evidence, provided sufficient

⁵Arguably, several of these similarities are sufficiently unusual to establish Williams rule evidence taken individually as well as cumulatively. While Defendant may argue that many victims are strangled. It is rare for a victim to be strangled from behind. A review of Florida cases found only one case mentioning such a manner of death. See Overton v. State, 801 So. 2d 877, 882 (Fla. 2001)(medical examiner testified that victim was strangled by a ligature with pressure applied from behind). Also, while many victims may be beaten, it is highly unusual for a victim to have patterned bruising on their buttocks specifically from a looped belt. Again, a review of Florida case law found no murder cases involving this specific type of injury.

overwhelming evidence of Defendant's guilt such that the admission of the Williams rule evidence could not have contributed to the verdict. (See Issue I above).

It should also be noted that the Williams rule evidence presented by the State was not a feature of the trial. Cf. Long v. State, 610 So. 2d 1276, 1280 (Fla. 1993)(approximately four hours of testimony was presented concerning the murder in issue, while more than three days of testimony was presented concerning Williams rule offenses). The trial court noted on the record that presentation of the Williams rule evidence, in its entirety, took only 62 minutes, (XI/1018), over the course of four days of testimony. Thus, the brief nature of the relevant testimony underscores the harmlessness of the Williams rule evidence.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF IDENTITY. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

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